
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

Please note that by law this meeting can be filmed, audio-
recorded, photographed or reported electronically by the use 
of social media by anyone attending.  This does not apply to 
any part of the meeting that is held in private session.  The 
Council will webcast the meeting. 

Please ask for: Brad 
Taylor  
 

 
* Reporting to Cabinet 

6 September 2021 
 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
 

You are requested to attend a meeting of the WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
CABINET PLANNING AND PARKING PANEL to be held on Wednesday 15 September 
2021 at 7.30 pm in the Council Chamber, Campus East, Welwyn Garden City, Herts, AL8 
6AE. 
 

 
 
Yours faithfully 

 
Corporate Director 
Public Protection, Planning and Governance 
 
 

A G E N D A 
PART 1 

 

1.   SUBSTITUTIONS  
 

 To note any substitution of Panel Members in accordance with Council Procedure 
Rules. 
 

2.   APOLOGIES  
 

3.   MINUTES  
 

 To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 19 August 2021 
(previously circulated).  
 

4.   NOTIFICATION OR URGENT BUSINESS TO BE CONSIDERED UNDER ITEM 
10  
 

5.   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS BY MEMBERS  

Public Document Pack



 
 To note declarations of Members’ disclosable pecuniary interests, non-disclosable 

pecuniary interests and non-pecuniary interests in respect of items on this Agenda. 
 

6.   PUBLIC QUESTION TIME AND PETITIONS  
 

 Up to thirty minutes will be made available for questions from members of the 
public on issues relating to the work of the Committee and to receive any petitions. 
 

7.   LOCAL PLAN INSPECTOR'S REPORT (Pages 5 - 20) 
 

 Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance) 
setting out the Inspector’s conclusions on the Full Objective Assessment of 
Housing Need (FOAHN), the soundness of additional sites, the revised windfall 
assessment, and the treatment of Green belt boundaries. His supplementary 
report addresses concerns about selection of sites and provides guidance on the 
way forward.  
 

8.   LAND AT VINEYARDS ROAD ARTICLE 4 DIRECTION (Pages 21 - 28) 
 

 Report of the corporate director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance) on 
serving an immediate Article 4 Direction on the parcel of land on the west side of 
Vineyards Road to remove nationally permitted development rights.  
 

9.   EMPLOYMENT AREAS ARTICLE 4 DIRECTION (Pages 29 - 42) 
 

 Report of The Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance) on 
replacing the Article 4 Direction when it expires to prevent the loss of employment 
space within the borough through nationally permitted development (PD) rights.  
 

10.   SUCH OTHER BUSINESS AS, IN THE OPINION OF THE CHAIRMAN, IS OF 
SUFFICIENT URGENCY TO WARRANT IMMEDIATE CONSIDERATION  
 

11.   EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 

 The Panel is asked to resolve: 
 
That under Section 100(A)(2) and (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press 
and public be now excluded from the meeting for item 12 (if any) on the grounds 
that it involves the likely disclosure of confidential or exempt information as defined 
in Section 100A(3) and Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the said Act (as amended).  
 
In resolving to exclude the public in respect of the exempt information, it is 
considered that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information.  
 

PART II 
 

12.   ANY OTHER BUSINESS OF A CONFIDENTIAL OR EXEMPT NATURE AT THE 
DISCRETION OF THE CHAIRMAN  
 



 
Circulation: Councillors S.Kasumu (Chairman) 

S.Boulton (Vice-Chairman) 
G.Hayes 
A.Hellyer 
S.McNamara 
G.Michaelides 
R.Platt 
 

J.Quinton 
D.Richardson 
A Rohale 
P.Shah 
C.Stanbury 
S.Thusu 
 

 Co-opted Members:- 
Tenants’ Panel Representatives 
To be appointed 

 
 Corporate Management Team 

Press and Public (except Part II Items) 
 
 
If you require any further information about this Agenda please contact Jonah 
Anthony, Governance Services on 01707 357349 or email – 
democracy@welhat.gov.uk  
 

mailto:democracy@welhat.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Part I 
Main authors: Sue Tiley 
Executive Member: Cllr Stephen Boulton 
All Wards 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
CABINET PLANNING & PARKING PANEL –REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR 
(PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING AND GOVERNANCE) 
 
LOCAL PLAN – INSPECTOR’S REPORTS  
 
1. Executive Summary 

 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to consider the Inspector’s reports and its implications 

for further modifications required to make the Plan sound. 
 

1.2 The Council submitted the Local Plan for public examination in May 2017.  The 
inspector has advised after the Stage 2 Hearing Session in October 2017 that the 
plan could not be found sound as submitted as it did not meet the Full Objective 
Assessment of Housing Need (FOAHN).   
 

1.3 Further sites were submitted to the examination in November 2020 along with the 
Council’s evidence relating to the implications of the latest ONS Sub-national 
household and population projections (2018) on the FOAHN. 
 

1.4 Examination hearing sessions on the additional sites and the evidence relating to 
the FOAHN took place in February and March this year. The Inspector has now 
written a letter to the Council accompanied by a series of reports on his 
conclusions. These are published on the Examination pages of the Council’s 
website: 

 EX271  Inspector’s letter dated June 2021  

 EX274  FOAHN assessment 

 EX272  Supplementary Report 

 EX273  Stage 9 Round Up Notes 

 EX276  Windfall letter 

 EX275  Treatment of Green Belt boundaries 
 

 
1.5 The reports set out the Inspector’s conclusions on the Full Objective Assessment of 

Housing Need; his conclusions on the soundness of additional sites; the revised 
windfall assessment; and the treatment of Green Belt boundaries. His 
Supplementary report addresses his concerns about the selection of sites and 
provides guidance on the way forward. The Inspector’s letter provides an overview 
of these reports and sets out a timeline for getting back to him. 
 

1.6 A further report will be brought to a special meeting of this Panel considering the 
options. The recommendations of this Panel will then be forwarded to Cabinet and 
then Full Council. 
 

  

Page 5

Agenda Item 7

https://www.welhat.gov.uk/media/19167/EX271-Letter-to-WH-re-Stage-9-docs/pdf/EX271__Letter_to_WH_re_Stage_9_docs.pdf?m=637613767572330000
https://www.welhat.gov.uk/media/19170/EX274-2021-FOAHN-assessment-letter-V5/pdf/EX274__2021_FOAHN_assessment_letter_V5.pdf?m=637613767577130000
https://www.welhat.gov.uk/media/19168/EX272-Inspector-s-Supplementary-Report-/pdf/EX272__Inspectors_Supplementary_Report_.pdf?m=637613767574070000
https://www.welhat.gov.uk/media/19169/EX273-Stage-9-Round-up-notes-on-sites-3/pdf/EX273____Stage_9_Round_up_notes_on_sites_3.pdf?m=637613767575230000
https://www.welhat.gov.uk/local-plan/new/examination/documents
https://www.welhat.gov.uk/media/19171/EX275-Treatment-of-GB-boundaries/pdf/EX275___Treatment_of_GB_boundaries.pdf?m=637613767578170000


2 Recommendations 
 
2.1 That Members consider the reports and note the Inspector’s comments with regards 

to the approach to site selection and distribution. 
 

3 Background 
 
3.1 The Local Plan was submitted in May 2017 with a target of 12,000 homes. The Plan 

is being examined under the policy requirements set out in the 2012 National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) rather than the revised policy requirements first 
set out in the 2018 NPPF. This means that the housing target for the Plan is 
established through the assessment of the FOAHN rather than the standard 
housing methodology. There have been ten hearing sessions on the following 
matters: 
 
 Stage 1 Legal Soundness and Duty to Cooperate (September 2017) 
 Stage 2 Overarching Strategy (October 2017) 
 Joint session with East Herts on Birchall Garden Suburb (January 2018) 
 Stage 3 Topic Specific Policies (February 2018) 
 Stage 4 Hatfield and Welwyn Garden City policies and allocations (June 2018) 
 Stage 5 Green Belt Assessment (November 2018) 
 Stage 6 Birchall Garden Suburb, Housing and Employment Land Needs 

(December 2019) 
 Stage 7 Birchall Garden Suburb and Symondshyde (March 2020) 
 Stage 8 Village Sites (July/August 2020) 
 Stage 9 Additional Sites, OAN, Windfall and Green Belt boundaries 

(February/March 2021) 
 

3.2 At the end of the Stage 2 session the inspector indicated that the Submitted Local 
Plan’s housing target did not meet the FOAHN in full and that there was insufficient 
evidence to justify this.  He therefore asked the Council to consider adding in 
additional sites and to carry out an assessment of harm to the green belt. 
 

3.3 The inspector subsequently asked the Council to review the implications of the 
2016-based and then more recently the 2018-based population and household 
projections.  The 2016-based projections were considered at the Stage 6 hearing 
sessions in December 2019 and the 2018 based projections at the Stage 9 hearing 
sessions in February 2021.   
 

3.4 In 2019 Members carried out a call for sites and subsequent public consultation 
following consideration of the Site Selection Background paper, its appendices, the 
amendments to the Sustainability Appraisal and other evidence at a meeting of this 
Panel and subsequently Cabinet in January 2020. 
 

3.5 In October 2020 the Inspector published his Interim Report EX212 which included 
his conclusions on sites debated at the Stage 7 and 8 Hearing Sessions. 
 

3.6 In November 2020 the Council selected sites to meet a lower housing target taking 
account of the range of population and household projections, the evidence on 
Green Belt harm and the results of the public consultation. Members also proposed 
that some sites in the submitted plan should be removed because of the extent of 
harm to the Green Belt. 

Page 6

https://www.welhat.gov.uk/media/15986/Site-Selection-Paper-Main-Report/pdf/1._Site_Selection_Paper_Main_report_High_res.pdf?m=637166688800830000
https://www.welhat.gov.uk/media/15987/Appendix-A-Site-Templates-by-Settlement/pdf/Appendix_A_-_Site_Templates_by_Settlement.pdf?m=637164262158800000
https://www.welhat.gov.uk/media/17112/EX200-SA-Addendum-for-Welwyn-Hatfield-Local-Plan-Jan-2020/pdf/EX200_SA_Addendum_for_Welwyn_Hatfield_Local_Plan_Jan_2020.pdf?m=637345850283830000
https://democracy.welhat.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=266&MId=1072
https://democracy.welhat.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=266&MId=1072
https://www.welhat.gov.uk/media/17615/EX212-WHBC-Interim-Report-October-2020-V2-1/pdf/EX212_WHBC_Interim_Report_October_2020_V2.1.pdf?m=637429477433930000


 
4 Explanation 

 
4.1 As set out in paragraph 1.4 above the Inspector has prepared 5 reports for the 

Council to consider. His letter to the Council provides an overview of the reports 
and sets out a timetable for going back to him. He sets out that whilst the Plan is 
still not capable of being found sound it can be made sound as there are more sites 
than are needed which are capable of being found sound than are required to meet 
the FOAHN. 
 

4.2 The key dates are as follows: 

 A timetable for the rest of the Plan by 30th July 

 A list of additional sites accompanied by supporting evidence to meet the 
revised FOAHN by 17th September. 
 

The FOAHN 
 

4.3 The Inspector has concluded that there has been a meaningful change to the 
FOAHN justifying a reduction in the housing target from 16,000 dwellings (800 per 
year) to 15,200 dwellings (760 per year) for the period 2016-36 but not as low as 
advocated by the Council or suggested by the Council’s consultants, Turley. This is 
because the Inspector has considered the needs of the economy and the fact that 
the borough has a higher number of jobs than its economically active workforce. 
 

4.4 Previous assessments of the FOAHN have not concluded that there was a need for 
such an uplift but were based on higher levels of population growth.  
 

4.5 The Council now need to consider how best to meet the FOAHN if it wishes to have 
a sound local plan. 
 

4.6 Should the Council wish to withdraw the plan and start again with a new strategy it 
would need to do so in the context of the standard housing methodology which 
currently equates to 875 dwellings per year.  
 

The Supplementary Report 
 

4.7 In the supplementary report the Inspector sets out advice relating to the approach to 
be taken to site selection and comments on the need for a stepped trajectory. He 
confirms that opportunities within the urban areas have been maximised and that 
exceptional circumstances exist for removing land from the Green Belt. He 
concludes that this will need to deliver over 7000 dwellings in the Green Belt. 
 

4.8 He advises that exceptional circumstances also need to be demonstrated for sites 
on an individual basis. He advises that whilst the starting point for selecting sites 
should be based on the contribution a site plays to the Green Belt the extent to 
which the harm to visual openness can be mitigated should also be considered. 
 

4.9 He goes on to advise that simply selecting sites based on Green Belt harm would 
not be a sound approach and that other factors need to be considered, alongside 
harm (such as sustainability and the accessibility of sites to facilities and public 
transport).  He makes it clear that the ‘Green Gap’ policy approach should not 

Page 7



feature in the selection process as it would result in some areas being given greater 
protection than that resulting from the Green Belt harm assessment 
 

4.10 He considers the strategy for distributing sites should result in a proportionate 
distribution with those villages excluded from the Green Belt meeting their local 
need. It is for the Council to define local need. He considers however that 
opportunities in and around Welwyn Garden City and Hatfield have been largely 
exhausted.  
 

4.11 He identifies villages with railway stations as being particularly sustainable and he 
states that he considers Welham Green to be the most sustainable of the villages 
because of its large employment area in addition to its station. 
 

4.12 He identifies the settlements within the Welwyn Parish area as lacking in housing 
numbers and comments on the sustainability of Digswell because it has a station.  
 

4.13 He considers that a larger Symondshyde (1,500 dwellings) is capable of being 
found sound but cautions that some village sites are more sustainable and should 
be selected before Symondshyde. 
 

4.14 In this report he covers the issue of the five year land supply and whether or not 
there is a need for a stepped trajectory (a lower target for the first five years) He 
considers that the need for a stepped trajectory has not been justified. He reminds 
the Council that in order to boost the supply of housing the National Planning Policy 
Framework para 47 states that Local Planning Authorities by: 
 

 Meet the FOAHN; 

 identify a five years’ worth of housing that can be delivered within the first five 

years with a 20% buffer; and 

 illustrate the rate of housing delivery for both market and affordable housing 

through a housing strategy together with a housing implementation strategy 

that describes how they will maintain a five year supply of housing land to 

meet the housing target. 

 
4.15 He comments that at the point of submission the Council proposed a stepped 

trajectory but that there are now more sites to choose from. He does not rule out the 
need for a stepped trajectory but considers that this does need to be justified. 
 

4.16 He also comments on the need for the delivery of a proportionate amount of 
housing supply throughout the plan period. He considers that because Welwyn 
Hatfield’s housing market is not particularly self-contained and because there is a 
shortage of housing in London unconstrained housing is likely to come forward 
relatively quickly.  
 

4.17 This was a particular issue with the housing trajectory submitted by the Council in 
November 2020 with the last 5 years of the plan period delivering only 1,486 
dwellings compared to the 2016 submitted plan delivering 2,897 dwellings over the 
last 5 years. This was largely as a consequence of the removal of Symondshyde 
and the reduction in size of Birchall Garden Suburb. The Inspector has warned that 
such a situation is not in the interests of the long term protection of the Green Belt 

Page 8



as there would be a need for early release of more land at the back end of the plan 
period in order to maintain a five year supply. 
 

4.18 He therefore advocates a strategy which includes some sites with a long lead in 
time where site assembly, prior mineral extraction or site access is complicated. 

 
Windfall 
 

4.19 The calculation of housing land supply which will contribute to the housing target 
comprises the following elements:  

 Completions - those dwellings delivered since the start of the plan period 

 Commitments - development given planning permission but not yet completed. 

 Windfall development – sites currently unknown which evidence demonstrates 

consistently comes forward in addition to allocations 

 Small sites – known sites which are too small to allocate 

 Allocations 

 

4.20 The Stage 9 hearing sessions considered updated evidence on windfall 
development. After reviewing the evidence the Inspector has concluded an 
allowance of 139 dwellings per year would be appropriate. As this relates to 
unknown sites this is not applied to the whole plan period as development 
completed over the next 3 years will relate to sites which already have planning 
permission and are included in the commitment figure. 
 

4.21 As we have now updated our completions and commitments data this will mean 12 
years of windfall development whereas the Inspector’s report gave a total for 13 
years. 
 

Stage 9 hearing Session Feedback on Sites 
 
4.22 In his supplementary report the Inspector indicates that sites which have already 

been submitted to the examination could accommodate over 6,000 dwellings and 
that additional land could accommodate over 1,600 dwellings of which the Inspector 
consider 1,300 dwellings could be found sound.  
 

4.23 Appendix A Table 1 to this report lists those sites either in the submitted plan or 
promoted by the Council for inclusion in the Plan in November 2020 which are 
considered to be sound and in Table 2 sites which are sound but could potentially 
be deleted from the Plan following a transparent comparative assessment as there 
are potentially other options which could result in a better strategy. In some 
instances, the Council is asked to reassure itself that capacities can be delivered 
but the Inspector has made no reference to the proposed additional 600 dwellings 
at the Wheat Quarter. Table 2 of the same Appendix lists those sites which 
although sound could be replaced by other sites. 
 

4.24 With regards to Birchall Garden Suburb the Inspector restates his conclusions set 
out in his interim report that it would not be sound to allocate the southern fields. He 
refers to the estimated capacity of 650 dwellings which would need to be reduced if 
a primary school is required on the site. This will depend on the overall numbers for 
Welwyn Garden City. The Inspector considers that the policy requirements should 

Page 9



still seek the delivery of a small retail centre to meet the day to day needs of 
residents. He accepts that the viability of such a requirement is affected by the 
reduced numbers but considers this should be assessed at the application stage.  
 

4.25 Appendix B lists those sites in Table 3 which the Inspector considers could be found 
sound. 
 

4.26 In his interim report published in October 2020 the Inspector concluded that the 
employment strategy and policies were sound. He considered that the allocation of 
sites within the employment area would be inconsistent with this approach and 
should not be allocated unless there were planning reasons that relate to the 
specific site. The following sites lie within a designated or proposed employment 
area and are therefore not considered to be sound: 

 Pea97 Norton Building, WGC 

 Pea103 29 Broadwater Road, WGC 

 Pea73-83 Bridge Road East, WGC 

 Pea 105 61 Bridge Road, WGC 

 WE100 51-53 London Road Woolmer Green 

 

4.27 It should be noted however that two of these sites already have planning permission 
for residential development and will therefore count towards our commitments 
figures. With regards to WE100 the Inspector has promoted the concept of access 
to WGr1 being via WE100.  The promoters of both sites agreed to the concept of a 
footpath/cycleway connection but expressed reservation that access to WGr1 be 
accessed from WE100 as this could impact on delivery and potentially a ‘ransom 
strip’ situation. 
 

4.28 The allocation of BrP1 would not be sound as a replacement to BrP4 or instead of 
BrP12a as both are closer to facilities and services and are in locations better 
served by public transport. The Inspector has weighted these advantages more 
heavily than the harm to the Green Belt which is high and moderate to high.  
 

4.29 He has however indicated that not all of the expanded BrP4 needs to come forward 
during the plan period, with the potential for the additional land being safeguarded 
to meet future needs. 
 

Treatment of Green Belt Boundaries 
 

4.30 Following the Inspector’s Interim report (EX212), the Council set out its approach to 
the treatment of Green Belt boundaries of allocations (EX223).   The approach 
proposes that where Green Belt release is proposed to meet housing and other 
development needs and tree planting and other strategic landscaping that would 
strengthen the Green Belt boundary and/or reduce the visual impact of the built 
development on the wider Green Belt, is required, that should (where feasible) take 
place adjoining but outside of the allocation.   
 

4.31 Typically, the Green Belt boundary would follow the edge of the built development 
and the proposed allocation. The approach recognises that there may be 
exceptions to this rule. For instance, where there are different ownerships. Also, in 
order to mitigate the visual impact of a development on the wider Green Belt, in 

Page 10



some instances, it may be more appropriate to implement such works within the 
area of the proposed allocation rather than outside of it.  
 

4.32 The Inspector invited representations on the proposed approach and held a Stage 9 
hearing session in February 2021.  He has written to the Council (EX275) advising 
that in principle he is satisfied with the approach and that proposals in the Local 
Plan that adopt the approach would be found sound.   
 
Calculation of the five year land supply 
 

4.33 Local Planning Authorities are required to maintain a five year land supply. This is 
an important consideration in the determination of planning applications and a lack 
of a five year land supply has implications for the weight that can be given to local 
plan policies and can result in the Council losing planning appeals for proposals it 
might otherwise be able to resist. 
 

4.34 Housing land supply is monitored on an ongoing basis and is reported on every 
year in the Annual Monitoring Report. The calculation of the five year land supply 
has to take account of previous under provision and where delivery is below the 
expected rate a 20% buffer as opposed to a five per cent buffer has to be added. 
 

4.35 In the absence of an up to date housing target this is calculated based on the 
standard housing methodology which currently results in 878 dwellings per year, 
 

Next Steps 
 

4.36 The first task identified by the Inspector was to submit a detailed timetable that 
outlines the dates for the completion of each of the remaining stages of the 
Examination going forward from the submission of a list of additional sites up to the 
adoption of the Local Plan. The programme was sent to the Inspector along with a 
letter explaining why it was not possible to meet his timetable.  
 

4.37 Subject to Members approving changes to the Plan which the Inspector considers 
to be sound consultation will take place on the Main Modifications in November for 
six weeks. The representations, the key issues raised and the Council’s response 
will then be forwarded to the Inspector. He will then write his final report on the 
soundness of the Plan. If the representations raise any new issues which have not 
been considered by the examination there may be a need for further statements or 
a hearing session. 
 

4.38 The Council will need to consider what further sites it wishes to submit to the 
examination from the list of those already examined at the hearing sessions. In 
doing so it will need to consider: 
 

 Whether the distribution of development reflects the plan’s development 
strategy. 

 

 The requirement to establish a five year supply of housing land from 
adoption. Opportunities for improving the five year land supply from the sites 
which could potentially be found sound should be rigorously explored. 

 

Page 11

https://www.welhat.gov.uk/media/19378/EX277B-Local-Plan-Timetable-Chart-21-08-04v2/pdf/EX277B__Local_Plan_Timetable_Chart_21_08_04v2.pdf?m=637642135632730000
https://www.welhat.gov.uk/media/19377/EX277A-Response-to-Inspector-on-Timetable-v4/pdf/EX277A___Response_to_Inspector_on_Timetable_v4.pdf?m=637642135630770000


 On adoption the housing trajectory should ensure as far as possible the 
delivery of a proportionate amount of housing supply throughout the plan 
period.  

 

 It will also need to ensure that the assessment of sites is based on a 
transparent comprehensive comparative assessment which balances harm 
with sustainability, takes into account strategic benefits as well as impacts on 
the natural and historic environment. Greatest weight needs to be given 
assets of national or international importance. 

 
4.39 Consideration will also need to be given to any other consequential changes to the 

Local Plan strategy which might result from a change in which sites are allocated 
such as meeting the need for Gypsy and Traveller sites and the delivery of 
affordable housing. 
 

4.40 The Sustainability Appraisal will need to be updated to assess sites not previously 
appraised and to consider revised approaches to the distribution of sites.  
 

4.41 Once the main modifications have been agreed and the Sustainability Appraisal and 
the Habitats Regulatory Assessment would again need to be updated which along 
with the main modifications would be subject to a six week consultation period. 
 

4.42 The Statement of Community Involvement will need to be updated to refer to the 
changes to the requirement to make hard copies of documents available for 
consultation introduced by the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning, 
Development Management Procedure, Listed Buildings etc.) (England) 
(Coronavirus) (Amendment) Regulations 2020.  
 

4.43 The Local Development Scheme will also need to be updated to take account of the 
latest programme for the production of the Local Plan. There is no requirement to 
consult on either of the amendments to these documents which can simply be 
agreed by Cabinet once they have been considered by this Panel. 

 
5 Legal Implications 

 
5.1 The preparation of the Local Plan is governed by legislation, most notably the Town 

and Country Planning Act 1990, the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
and the Localism Act 2011, as well as case law and secondary legislation set out in 
regulations.  It also has to comply with relevant legislation relating to the preparation 
of Sustainability Appraisal and Habitats Regulatory Assessment. 
 

5.2 The legislation requires that the Local Plan is prepared in accordance with the Local 
Development Scheme (LDS), the Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) and, 
under the transitional arrangements, the 2012 version of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF). The SCI will need to be amended to bring it in line with 
the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning, Development Management 
Procedure, Listed Buildings etc.) (England) (Coronavirus) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2020 relating to the availability of hard copies of consultation 
documents for public consultation. 
 

5.3 It requires that local planning authorities seek to deliver sustainable development 
when preparing the plan.  

Page 12



 
5.4 The NPPF sets out the Tests of Soundness against which the Local Plan is 

examined.  That is that the plan is positively prepared, justified, effective and 
consistent with national policy. 
 

5.5 The inspector has made it clear that only he can remove sites from the Submitted 
Local Plan if he considers them to be unsound. Should Members no longer to 
proceed with all the sites considered to be sound the only option would be to 
withdraw the Plan and start again. 
 

5.6 The Local Plan process could be subject to legal challenge if any party considers 
that it has not been prepared in accordance with legislation and national guidance. 
 

6 Financial Implications 
 

6.1 The financial implications of not having a sound Local Plan is that the Council would 
have to start the process again.  This would require updated evidence, another call-
for-sites exercise, updated site appraisal, updated sustainability appraisal and 
habitats assessment and further public consultation.   
 

6.2 In the meantime the Council will continue to receive speculative planning 
applications for both urban and green belt sites (both those that are currently 
favoured in the plan and those that have been rejected) and could face costs if 
these were refused and successfully appealed. 
 

7 Risk Management Implications 
 

7.1 The Inspector has made it clear that unless the Council adds in more sites to the 
Local Plan to achieve the FOAHN it will be found unsound.  He has also made it 
clear that decisions upon which sites to add into the Plan need to be based on 
sound planning grounds which are applied consistently and transparently.   
 

7.2 The current adopted District Plan is considered to be out-of-date, particularly with 
regard to policies relating to new residential development.  If this Plan is withdrawn 
or found unsound then the Council would have to rely on policies in the NPPF for 
decision making.  Emerging policies in the Local Plan would no longer have any 
weight in decision making. 
 

7.3 Without an adopted Local Plan the Council’s five year land supply figures will 
continue to be based on the Government’s standard methodology, which is 
currently 875 homes per year.  Because the Council no longer has a five year land 
supply the presumption in favour of sustainable development already applies.  As a 
consequence, policies seeking to protect areas from residential development would 
carry less weight and the Council is more likely to lose decisions on appeal.  This 
will impact on the Council’s performance figures, which could place it at risk of 
government intervention. 
 

7.4 The Housing Delivery Test results in a requirement for a 20% buffer being added to 
the five year land supply figures.  In future years, without an adopted plan, it is likely 
that performance will fall below 45%, resulting in a risk of special measures.  
 

Page 13



7.5 Regulations now require a plan to be reviewed every five years and particularly 
where there are significant changes in the housing need figure.  Paragraph 74 of 
the NPPF 2021 states:  
 

“The supply of specific deliverable sites should in addition include a buffer (moved 
forward from later in the plan period) of:  
 
a) 5 % to ensure choice and completion in the market for land; or 

 
b) 10 % where the local planning authority wishes to demonstrate a five year 

supply of deliverable sites through an annual position statement OR recently 
adopted plan (Footnote 38), to account for any fluctuations in the market during 
that year; or 

 

c) 20 % where there has been significant under delivery of housing over the 
previous three years, to improve the prospect of achieving the planned supply 
(Foot note 39)”. 
 

Footnote 40 states: “For the purposes of paragraphs 73b and 74 a plan adopted 
between 1 May and 31 October will considered ‘recently adopted’ until 31 October 
of the following year; and a plan adopted between 1 November and 30 April will be 
considered ‘recently adopted’ until 31 October in the same year”.  
 
Footnote 41 states: “This will be measured against the Housing Delivery Test, 
where this indicates that delivery was below 85 % of the housing requirement”. 
 

7.6 Should housing completions not increase the Council will come under pressure to 
carry out an immediate review of the Local Plan. Members should note how short 
the period is for an up-to-date adopted plan to count towards a five year housing 
land supply figure.  New demographic and household projections are published 
every two years. 
 

7.7 Members should note that because the plan is being examined against the 2012 
NPPF it may, once adopted, need to be updated to bring it in line with the 2021 
NPPF.  Wherever possible Officers will seek to ensure there is not likely to be a 
conflict. 
 

7.8 In proposing modifications to the plan, the Council has to ensure that it has not 
proposed so many changes that it is, in essence, a different plan, which even if 
found sound might make it subject to legal challenge.  Nevertheless, the Council is 
allowed to make changes to make the plan sound and these must by definition be 
substantive otherwise they would not be needed to make the plan sound. 
Substantive changes which are not required to make the plan sound cannot be 
made.   
 

8 Security & Terrorism Implications 
 

8.1 There are no security and terrorism implications arising from this report. 
 

9 Procurement Implications 
 

9.1 There are no procurement implications arising from this report. 

Page 14



 
10 Climate Change Implications 

 
10.1 There are climate change implications arising from the identification of land for 

housing and employment.  The Sustainability Appraisal judges that there will be 
greater energy use and emissions of greenhouse house gases and reductions in air 
quality.  
 

10.2 The effects of this will be mitigated through the implementation of policies in the 
plan on sustainable design and construction and delivering sustainable 
development.   
 

10.3 Minimising the need to travel by locating development in accessible locations close 
to a range of facilities and services and/or where they are close to public transport 
and cycle paths will assist in this or, alternatively, requiring through Section 106 or 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) to improvements to public transport 
infrastructure, cycleways and footpaths. 
 

10.4 Ensuring the balance of employment provision alongside housing will also help to 
address this. 

 
11 Link to Corporate Priorities 

 
11.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Business Plan 2018-21 and, in 

particular, Priority 3 Our Housing - to plan for current and future needs and Priority 
4 Our Economy – sustainable growth.  
 

12 Health and Wellbeing Implications 
 

12.1 Providing sufficient housing and jobs have health and wellbeing benefits for 
residents as does the quality of the environment.  
 

13 Human Resources Implications 
 

13.1 There are no human resources implications arising from this report.  The Local Plan 
will continue to be prepared by the policy team.  Regardless of whether the Plan is 
found sound, withdrawn or found unsound, it is likely to increase the number of 
planning applications and the caseload for development management officers. 
 

14 Communications and Engagement Implications 
 

14.1 Officers will work closely with communications colleagues to ensure that Local Plan 
progress is communicated to the public through newsletters, information on the 
website, press briefings, etc. 
 

14.2 Public consultation has been carried out in accordance with the Statement of 
Community Involvement. 
 

15 Equality and Diversity Implications 
 

15.1 All of the policies in the Submitted Local Plan were subject to equality impact 
assessment.  

Page 15



 
15.2 Any policies which are subsequently proposed for main modification will be subject 

to an updated equality impact assessment. 
 
Author 
 
Sue Tiley, Planning Policy and Implementation Manager 
 
August 2021 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A – List of Sites Found Sound 
Appendix B – List of Sites Capable of being Found Sound 
 

Page 16



 
 
 
 
Appendix A  

Table 1 Sites Found Sound 

Settlement 
HELAA 
Reference 

Local 
Plan Ref 

Site 2021 Capacity 

WGC WGC4/4a SDS1 North east of Welwyn Garden City 845 

WGC WGC5 SDS2 South east of Welwyn Garden City 600 

WGC Pea02b SDS3 Broadwater Road West SPD Site (North) 2003* 

WGC Pea02c SDS4 
Broadwater Road West SPD Site (West) - Pall 
Mall 

171 

WGC Pan01b HS1 Land at Bericot Way and Waterbeach 21 

WGC WGC1 HS2 Creswick 300 

WGC Pea08 HS3 80 Bridge Road East 32 

WGC Hal03 HS4 Ratcliff Tail Lift Site, Bessemer Road 110 

WGC Hol19 HS5 Hyde Valley House, Hyde Valley 17 

WGC Han40 MUS1 
Welwyn Garden City Town Centre North SPD 
Site 

100 

WGC Han91 HS6 
Land at Gosling Sports Park, Stanborough 
Road 

100 

WGC Pea24 HS8 St Michaels House, Holwell Road 22 

WGC Han40a   Town Centre North – Campus East Car Park 250 

WGC Pea102   Bio Park, Broadwater Road 250 

WGC Pea104   YMCA, 90 Peartree Lane 29 

WGC Hol23   Neighbourhood Centre, Hollybush Lane 16 

Hatfield Hat1 SDS5 North West Hatfield 1750* 

Hatfield HC100b MUS2 1-9 Town Centre 71 

Hatfield HW100 MUS3 High View (Hilltop) SPD Site 140 

Hatfield HE80 HS9 Land at Onslow St Audrey's School, Howe Dell 86 

Hatfield Hat11 HS11 Land at Southway 120 

Hatfield HS31 HS10 Garages at Hollyfield 12 

Hatfield HS91 HS13 Land south of Filbert Close 37 

Hatfield HE23 HS14 L Kahn Manufacturing, Wellfield Road 62 

Hatfield HE17   Link Drive (Site F) 80 

Hatfield HC08   Lemsford Road (Site H)  32 

Hatfield HSW92   Minster Close 49 

Hatfield HSW94   College Lane (north) 115 

Hatfield HC11   Meridian House, The Common 11 

Woolmer Green WGr1 HS15 Land east of London Road 150 

O&MH OMH8 HS16 2 Great North Road 5 

O&MH OMH5 HS17 Land rear of 2a-12 Great North Road 20 

O&MH GTLAA04 HS32 Four Oaks, Great North Road 6 

Welwyn Wel11 HS18 The Vineyards 30 

Welwyn Wel4 HS19 Sandyhurst, The Bypass 30 

Welwyn Wel3 HS20 School Lane 9 

Page 17



 
 
 
 

Welham Green GTLAA01 HS35 Foxes Lane, Dixons Hill Road 12 

Welham Green WeG4b SDS7 Marshmoor 100 

Welham Green WeG1   Units 1- 3, 51 Welham Manor  16 

Welham Green WeG3a   Land South of Welham Manor  68 

Welham Green WeG10   Land at Dixons Hill Road 120 

Brookmans 
Park 

BrP13 HS21 Land west of Golf Club Road 14 

Brookmans 
Park 

BrP14 HS23 Land east of Golf Club Road 10 

Brookmans 
Park 

BrP4 HS22 Land west of Brookmans Park Railway Station 
300** 

Little Heath LHe1 HS25 Land north of Hawkshead Road 35 

Little Heath LHe4/5   Part of Studlands/Videne, Hawkshead Road 36 

Little Heath BrP7 HS24 Land south of Hawkshead Road  100** 

Cuffley No02 HS26 36 The Ridgeway and land to the rear 5 

Cuffley Cuf1 HS27 Land at The Meadway 60 

Cuffley Cuf6 HS28 Land south of Northaw Road East 121 

TOTAL 8,678 

 

* Dwelling capacity has not been confirmed 

** Option to increase capacity on extended site to 478 dwellings or 428 if primary school is 

provided on site. 

 

 

Table 2 Sites Found Sound but could be replaced by other sites 

Settlement HELAA Reference 
Local 
Plan Ref 

Site 
 

2021 Capacity 
 

 
Little Heath 

 
BrP7 HS24 

Land south of Hawkshead 
Road 

100 

 
Cuffley 

 
Cuf7 HS30 

Wells Farm, Northaw Road 
East 

75 

Cuffley Cuf12 HS29 
Land north of Northaw Road 
East 

73 

Rural Area HAT15 SDS6 
 
Symondshyde New Village 
 

1500 

TOTAL  

 

  

Page 18



 
 
 
 
Appendix B 

Table 3 Sites Capable of Being Found Sound  

Settlement 
HELAA  
Reference 

Site 
 
2021 Capacity 

 

Woolmer Green WGr3 52 London Road 25 

O&MH OMH6 Land east of Danesbury Park Road ? 

O&MH OMH9 Land to the rear of 19-23 The Avenue 25 

Welwyn Wel1 Land at Fulling Mill Lane 178 

Welwyn Wel2 Land adjoining Welwyn Cemetery 40 

Welwyn Wel15 Land at Fulling Mill Lane 14 

Welwyn Wel6 Land at Kimpton Road 16 

Digswell Dig1 East of New Road 25 -130 

Lemsford StL13 Land at Roebuck Farm 27 

Stanborough StL1 Land to the north of New Road 90 

Stanborough StL15 Land to the east of Great North Road 8 

Welham Green WeG6 Skimpans Farm 73 

Welham Green WeG12 Land north of Pooley Lane 40 

Welham Green WeG15 Land at Potterills Farm (reduced site only) ? 

Brookmans Park BrP12a Land north of Peplins Way 125 

Cuffley Cuf15 Land to south east of KGV playing fields 176 

TOTAL 
 

 

 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Part I 
Main author: Christopher Dale 
Executive Member: Cllr Stephen Boulton 
Digswell Ward 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
CABINET PLANNING AND PARKING PANEL – 15 SEPTEMBER 2021 
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE) 
 
ARTICLE 4 DIRECTION ON LAND TO THE WEST OF VINEYARDS ROAD, 
NORTHAW EN6 4PE 
 
1 Executive Summary 

 
1.1 In the early part of this year the Council became aware that a parcel of land on 

the west side of Vineyards Road, adjacent to the property known as Oak Chalet, 
had been auctioned as nine individual plots of which three have now been sold. 
 

1.2 The overall land parcel is designated as Metropolitan Green Belt in the adopted 
District Plan.  The land parcel is not proposed for release from the Metropolitan 
Green Belt in the Submitted Local Plan 2016 and nor does it form part of the 
recent new sites consultation exercise in January 2020.   
 

1.3 The Council considered that at that time that there was likely potential for new 
landowners of these land parcels to erect gates, fences, walls and other means 
of enclosure and temporarily use the land for other purposes which would be 
prejudicial to the proper planning of the area and constitute a threat to the 
amenities of that area. 
 

1.4 The Council therefore considered it appropriate to serve an immediate Article 4 
Direction on the overall land parcel to remove these nationally permitted 
development rights.  This was done via the circulation of a report to members of 
this Panel on 7 April 2021 for comment and then confirmed via an Executive 
Member Decision Notice. 
 

1.5 The immediate Direction lasts for six months until 7 October 2021.  The Council 
has until this date to decide whether to make the Direction permanent if the threat 
remains or for it to lapse if the threat hasn’t happened or isn’t likely to happen. 
 

1.6 Officers consider that the threat does remain, because although no unauthorised 
development has occurred to date, not all of the nine land parcels were sold at 
auction and 6 plots remain available for purchase at future auctions. 
 

2         Recommendations 
 
2.1 That the Panel recommend a permanent Article 4 Direction on land to the West 

of Vineyards Road to remove nationally permitted development rights for gates, 
fences, walls and other means of enclosure, access and the temporary use of the 
land.  The decision can then be made via an Executive Member Decision Notice 
if it is unanimously agreed or recommended to Cabinet if there is a split vote.  It 
would come into effect on 7 October 2021 by replacing the immediate Article 4 
Direction that already applies to the land.  It would be advertised in accordance 
with Article 4 Direction regulations. 

Page 21

Agenda Item 8



 
3 Explanation 

 
3.1 An explanation of the situation as it existed in April 2021 is set out in Appendix 1.   

 
3.2 The question now at hand is whether to make the Direction permanent because 

the threat remains or allow it to lapse because the threat hasn’t happened or isn’t 
likely to happen. 
 

3.3 Although no unauthorised development has occurred to date, not all of the nine 
land parcels were sold at auction and they therefore remain available for 
purchase at future auctions.   
 

3.4 Officers therefore consider that there is still likely potential for new landowners of 
these plots of land to erect gates, fences, walls and other means of enclosure in 
order to delineate their newly acquired land.  This has the potential to harm the 
character of the Green Belt. It is appropriate that such activities should only be 
permitted through the granting of planning permission. 
 

3.5 Officers also consider that there is likely potential for landowners of the plots of 
land to use the land for other purposes which would be prejudicial to the proper 
planning of the area and have the potential to significantly harm the character of 
the Green Belt.  It is appropriate that such activities should only be permitted 
through the granting of planning permission. 
 
 

3.6 In each of the two cases officers consider that the permitted development rights 
in the Schedule would be prejudicial to the proper planning of the area and 
constitute a threat to the amenities of that area. 
 

3.7 The Council has received 162 individual responses to the public consultation 
process carried out as part of serving the immediate Article 4 Direction.  157 of 
the responses are fully supportive of the Direction and 6 objections have been 
received, 5 of which are from the owner of one of the plots  
 

 Northaw & Cuffley Residents Association is pleased that the Council has 
taken this action as the loss of land within the green belt ‘would be a very 
sad day for Northaw and Cuffley residents. The Association hopes the 
Council will take appropriate steps to extend the Direction  

 
 CPRE Hertfordshire welcomes the Direction and appreciates the ‘speedy’ 

action of the Council in this matter’  
 

 HGH Consulting on behalf residents of Vineyards Road- The withdrawal of 
permitted development rights will protect high quality Green Belt land from 
harmful development which would conflict with national and local policy 
objectives. 

 

 Supportive comments include the following:- 
 

Fully support the decision to apply Article 4 to land west of Oak Chalet, 
Vineyards Road, Northaw  

 

Imperative to prevent urbanisation of Green Belt land. Green Belt land 
needed to protect the health of the nation and at this difficult time during a 

Page 22



pandemic it is even more necessary to ensure Great Britain is able to 
support itself by providing food etc, and keeping the nation healthy in a time 
of crisis. 

 

Continuing attempts to abuse the planning process to encroach on Green 
Belt land. 

 

Trust that article 4 will be extended to protect land for all time. 
 

Moved to Cuffley in 1962 because village surrounded by beautiful 
countryside and keen to keep as much as possible of the Green Belt as 
open countryside. 

 

Wishes to express support and gratitude for Article 4 Direction which will 
serve to protect the openness and character of this particularly important 
part of the Green Belt. Vital to the separation of Cuffley and Northaw as well 
as being a classic example of ridge and bowl valley landscape in the 
Northaw Common Parkland Landscape Character Area. Will ensure there 
are not multiple unauthorised new entrances placed between the land and 
Vineyards Road. Sub-division into hypothetical plots is a threat to the 
countryside and great to see the Council take this threat so seriously 

 

Recent speculative sale of Green Belt land in building plots but without 
planning permission is a blatant attempt to circumvent Green Belt 
restrictions. Must stop planning applications that infringe Green Belt. Fields 
either side of Oak Chalet have been acquired by a developer to sell as 
individual building plots, tempting buyers that these are speculative 
development plots. A similar situation occurred elsewhere and the Council 
quite rightly placed an Article 4 Direction on the land and had fencing 
removed. Current situation requires similar action. Similar action should be 
taken in respect of land to the north of Oak Chalet and details of this have 
been supplied. Northaw and Cuffley coming increasingly under siege from 
unsuitable land and property development. 

 

Preservation of Green Belt is vitally important for our future and for the 
future of generations to come 

 

Will formally object to any proposed urban development 
 

As people are working from home important to preserve green spaces. 
Once Green Belt has gone it cannot be regained. 

 

Land should revert to agricultural use 
 

Residents of Northaw and Cuffley will offer support as needed . 
 

 Objections:- 
 

Local resident makes a qualified objection considering that taking away 
simple rights is unfair. 
 
5 responses from the owner of one of the plots that this would affect the 
management of the land, would need to apply for planning permission to 
erect boundary fences for good management which would not affect 
openness of Green Belt, building a house would not harm road in anyway, 
or look out of place,  did not pay £115,000 for land with no use, Government 

Page 23



accepts that permitted development rights and temporary uses will not 
impact on openness of Green Belt and there is insufficient evidence to 
support Article 4 Direction. 

 
4 Legal Implications 

 
4.1 An Article 4 Direction removes nationally permitted development rights.   

 
4.2 The Council is allowed to serve an Article 4 Direction with immediate effect in 

accordance with Article 4(1) of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 where they are satisfied that the type of 
development set out in the Schedule should not be carried out unless permission 
is granted for it on application, because it would be prejudicial to the proper 
planning of the area and constitute a threat to the amenities of that area. 
 

4.3 Schedule 3 advises that an immediate Article 4 Direction takes effect upon 
publication and service of the notice, and remains in force for six months from the 
date it is given, until it is confirmed by the Council, having taking into account any 
representations received.  The Council must notify the Secretary of State on the 
same day the notice is served. 
 

4.4 Schedule 3 explains that the Council must consult on an Article 4 Direction by (a) 
local advertisement, (b) site display at no fewer than two locations within the area 
to which the direction relates for a period of no less than six weeks and (c) by 
serving the notice on the owner and occupier of every part of the land within the 
area to which the direction relates, unless this is impractical.  This was all done in 
April 2021 and will be repeated if the Direction is confirmed by the Panel. 
 

4.5 The immediate Direction runs until 7 October 2021, unless it is confirmed by the 
Council in accordance with paragraphs (9) and (10) of Schedule 3 before this 
date.  Paragraph (9) advises that in deciding whether to confirm the Direction, the 
Council must take into account any representations received and Paragraph (10) 
advises that the Council must not confirm the Direction until after the expiration of 
(a) a period of at least 28 days following the latest date on which a notice relating 
to the direction was served/published or (b) such longer period as may be 
specified by the Secretary of State following notification of the Direction.  The 
Council has considered representations received and the Council has not 
received any correspondence from the Secretary of State.  The Council is 
therefore free to confirm the Article 4 Direction. 
 

4.6 The ongoing sale and purchase of the land parcels means it will be difficult to 
confirm the owners and occupiers of every part of the land at the current time, as 
Land Registry will not have been updated.  The Council will therefore use other 
sources of information to identify as many owners and occupiers as possible. 
 

4.7 The Council has considered the human rights issues relevant to this matter, 
especially Article 1 of the First Protocol which is right to enjoy property and 
possessions.  It is considered that the action proposed in this report represents 
an appropriate balance between the rights of the landowner (to enjoy land 
subject to the reasonable and proportionate control by a public authority) and in 
the interests of those affected by the matter and the wider public interest. 
 

4.8 Owners and occupiers of the land should note that the Article 4 Direction does 
not prevent the development to which it applies, but instead requires that 

Page 24



planning permission is first obtained from the Council for that development.  
There is a fee payable for the submission of such planning applications. 
 

5 Financial Implications 
 

5.1 There are no costs associated with the creation of an Article 4 Direction, other 
than officer time. 
 

6 Risk Management Implications 
 

6.1 The serving of an immediate Article 4 Direction carried the risk of compensation.  
No such claims have been made to date since the Direction was served.  It is 
also relevant that the permitted development being restricted does not create 
large amounts of additional land value.  There appears to be low risk in 
confirming a permanent Article 4 Direction. 
 
 

7 Security and Terrorism Implications 
 

7.1 There are no security or terrorism implications associated with this report. 
 

8 Procurement Implications 
 

8.1 There are no procurement implications associated with this report. 
 

9 Climate Change Implications 
 

9.1 There are no climate change implications associated with this report. 
 

10 Human Resources Implications 
 

10.1 There are no human resources implications associated with this report. 
 

11 Health and Wellbeing Implications 
 

11.1 There are direct no health and wellbeing implications associated with this report. 
 

11.2 It could be argued that the wellbeing of local residents could be affected if they 
continue to be concerned about the possible use of this land.  An Article 4 
Direction goes some way to reassuring them that the Council is seeking to limit 
the possibility of inappropriate and harmful development. 
 

12 Communications and Engagement Implications 
 

12.1 The Council will communicate the creation of an Article 4 Direction with the 
Secretary of State, owners and occupiers of every part of the land where they are 
currently known, statutory bodies and the wider community. 
 

13 Link to Corporate Priorities 
 

13.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Business Plan and particularly 
Priority 2 Our Environment to enhance our green spaces. 
 

14 Equalities and Diversity 

Page 25



 
14.1 An EqIA was not completed because this report does not propose changes to 

existing service-related policies or the development of new service-related 
policies. 
 

Name of author Christopher Dale 
Title Head of Planning 
Date August 2021 
 
Appendices: 
 
1. Report circulated to members of CPPP  
 
2. Executive Member Decision Notice dated 7 April 2021 

 
3. Direction made under Article 4(1) of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) Order 2015 

Page 26



 
 

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING 
(GENERAL PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT) (ENGLAND) ORDER 2015 (AS AMENDED) 

IMMEDIATE DIRECTION MADE UNDER ARTICLE 4(1) OF THE ORDER 
 
WHEREAS Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council being the appropriate local planning 
authority within the meaning of Article 4(4) of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) is satisfied that it is 
expedient that development of the description set out in the Schedule below should not be 
carried out on the land shown edged in red on the attached plan, unless permission is 
granted on an application made under Part III of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
(as amended) 
AND WHEREAS the Council consider that development of the said description would 
constitute a threat to the amenities of their area and that the provisions of Schedule 3 
Paragraph 2 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
(England) Order 2015 (as amended) apply. 
NOW THEREFORE the Council in pursuance of the power conferred on them by Article 
4(1) of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 
2015 (as amended) hereby direct that the permission granted by Article 3 of the said Order 
shall not apply to development on the said land of the descriptions set out in the Schedule 
below. 
THIS DIRECTION is made under Article 4(1) of the said Order and, in accordance with 
Schedule 3 Paragraph 2(6) shall remain in force until 7 October 2021 (being six months 
from the date of this Direction) and shall then expire unless it has been confirmed by the 
local planning authority in accordance with paragraphs (9) and (10) of Schedule 3 before 
the end of the six month period. 
SCHEDULE 
The withdrawing of the following permitted development rights: 
(a) The erection, construction, maintenance, improvement or alteration of a gate, fence, 
wall or other means of enclosure comprised within Class A of Part 2 of Schedule 2 to the 
said Order and not being development/use comprised within any other class. 
(b) The use of the land for any purpose for not more than 28 days in total in any calendar 
year, of which not more than 14 days in total may be used for (a) the holding of a market, 
(b) motor car and motorcycle racing including trials of speed and practising for these 
activities, and the provision on the land of any moveable structure for the purpose of the 
permitted use comprised within Class B of Part 4 of Schedule 2 to the said Order and not 
being development/use comprised within any other class. 
 
The specific locations listed below and as identified on the attached plan at Appendix 1: 
 Land to the west of Vineyards Road, Northaw EN6 4PE 

 
Made under the Common Seal of Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council this 7 April 2021. 
The Common Seal of the Council was hereto affixed in the presence of Sheila Saunders 
(Authorised Signatory). 
Anyone wishing to comment on the immediate Article 4 Direction can send representations 
to planning@welhat.gov.uk or submit them to Development Management Service 
Manager, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council, The Campus, Welwyn Garden City, AL8 6AE 
until 19 May 2021. 
Further information about the Article 4 Direction can be found on the Council’s website 
www.welhat.gov.uk/a4d.   
 
 
 

Page 27

mailto:planning@welhat.gov.uk
http://www.welhat.gov.uk/a4d


 
 
 
Appendix 1: 

 

Page 28



- 1 - 

Part I 
Main author: Matt Pyecroft  
Executive Member: Cllr Stephen 

Boulton 
Various Wards 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
CABINET PLANNING AND PARKING PANEL – 15 SEPTEMBER 2021 
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE) 

ARTICLE 4 DIRECTION – EMPLOYMENT AREAS 

1 Executive Summary 
 

1.1 In recent years, a large amount of employment space within the borough has 
been lost, with a significant amount lost through nationally permitted 
development (PD) rights, which allow certain development to be undertaken 
without planning permission. Originally one set of these rights enabled office 
space to be converted to residential uses without the need for planning 
permission, and this caused a significant reduction in the supply of available 
space for local business, though since then a number of other permitted 
development rights allowing potentially substantial development or changes of 
use to take place have been introduced or have been consulted upon. 
 

1.2 Article 4 Directions enable local planning authorities to remove specific permitted 
development rights on identified sites, which means that if any such development 
is proposed, planning permission must be applied for in the normal way.  
 

1.3 Following consultation and member decision, the Council confirmed an Article 4 
Direction to remove the permitted development right enabling offices to be 
converted to residential uses on the four most significant employment sites in the 
borough. This Article 4 came into effect on 12 October 2020.  
 

1.4 Recent changes by the Government to both Planning Use Classes and further 
changes to Permitted Development rights mean that the Article 4 Direction 
restricting conversions which came into effect in October 2020 will soon cease to 
have effect. Whilst the Government has brought in transitional arrangements for 
Local Authorities in this situation, these only last until July 2022 meaning that if 
members still wish these for these PD rights to be removed, a replacement 
Article 4 Direction will be required.   
 

1.5 Legal advice has confirmed that despite the existing Article 4 having only been 
confirmed and taken effect very recently approval from members is required to 
replace the direction along with a fresh consultation process. 

 
2 Recommendation(s) 

 
2.1 That Cabinet Planning and Parking Panel recommends to Cabinet an Article 4 

Direction covering the 4 employment areas identified in Appendix A, to replace 
the one which took effect in October 2020 but which will lapse in July 2022, be 
made and consulted upon. If this is unanimously agreed by the panel, for the 
decision to be taken by the executive member using their delegated powers 
under paragraph 18.1(b) of the cabinet procedure rules. 
 

Page 29

Agenda Item 9



- 2 - 

2.2 That this replacement Article 4 Direction have an immediate start date. 
 

3 Explanation 
 

3.1 In 2013 the Government introduced new permitted development (PD) rights to 
enable offices (B1a) to be converted to residential (C3) uses without the need for 
planning permission. Since then, a range of further permitted development rights 
have been introduced.  
 

3.2 Extensive use has been made of these rights by owners of offices within the 
borough with 29,853sqm of office space having been lost since their introduction 
with 435 dwellings completed (to 31 March 2020), with further commitments of 
losses of 10,020sqm of office space and 226 dwellings, and other developments 
which have been delivered through securing planning permission, with the 
principle of development having been first established through Permitted 
Development.  
 

3.3 As has been previously reported to CPPP and Cabinet, this position has been 
replicated across the county as a whole and in early 2019 the Hertfordshire Local 
Enterprise Partnership (LEP) published “Loss of Employment Space in 
Hertfordshire” which showed that the county as a whole had experienced a net 
loss of more than 400,000sqm of office space over the ten years from 2008-
2018. This was seen to have a number of negative impacts including 
constraining growth, companies being forced to locate outside of the county, and 
limiting economic performance.  
 

3.4 It should also be noted that residential accommodation delivered through 
Permitted Development does not need to provide affordable housing or Section 
106 contributions for education, healthcare, open space etc. which might be 
expected through the normal planning process.  

 

3.5 In order to safeguard the most important office space in the borough, following 
consideration of the consultation by CPPP, and Cabinet approval, an Article 4 
Direction covering four employment areas: Welwyn Garden City Employment 
Area, Hatfield Business Park (including Bishop Square), Great North Road and 
Beaconsfield Road in Hatfield, and Sopers’ Road in Cuffley came into effect in 
October 2020.  
 

3.6 Subsequently, a second Article 4 covering the same areas removed the new 
Permitted Development right which enabled employment premises to be 
demolished and replaced with residential uses, and this Article 4 Direction will 
take effect in February 2022. 
 

3.7 Due to recent changes by Government to both Planning Use Classes and 
Permitted Development regulations, the first Article 4 will soon cease to have 
effect. The Government has announced a transitional arrangements for those 
Local Authorities who have such Article 4 Directions in place though this means 
that existing ones will still cease to have effect on 31 July 2022. As a result, if 
members wish these Permitted Development rights to still be withdrawn on the 
key employment areas, a replacement Article 4 Direction must be issued.  
 

 

3.8 In July 2021, an updated version of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) was issued by Government. In this document, a new paragraph 53 set 
out clear guidance for local authorities on the use of Article 4 Directions: 

Page 30



- 3 - 

 

The use of Article 4 directions to remove national permitted development rights 
should:  

 where they relate to change from non-residential use to residential use, be 
limited to situations where an Article 4 direction is necessary to avoid 
wholly unacceptable adverse impacts (this could include the loss of the 
essential core of a primary shopping area which would seriously 
undermine its vitality and viability, but would be very unlikely to extend to 
the whole of a town centre)  
 

 in other cases, be limited to situations where an Article 4 direction is 
necessary to protect local amenity or the well-being of the area (this could 
include the use of Article 4 directions to require planning permission for 
the demolition of local facilities)  

 

 in all cases, be based on robust evidence, and apply to the smallest 
geographical area possible. 

 

 

3.9 As can be seen, Government has set out clear tests for the use of Article 4 
Directions, in particular those that relate to residential uses, such as this 
proposal. Officers believe that the extensive loss of employment space, both in 
Welwyn Hatfield and in Hertfordshire as a whole, set out in this report, together 
with the proposal that this apply only to the largest and most significant 
employment areas in the borough, mean that what is proposed is appropriate 
and evidence based so that these tests have been met. However, members 
should also satisfy themselves in this respect.  
 

3.10 In the previous Article 4 Directions which have covered these areas, the date on 
which they take effect has been deferred for twelve months, due to the risk of 
compensation payments to landowners whose interests have been affected. 
However, as permitted development rights have already been removed, it is 
considered there would in effect be no risk of compensation and so an immediate 
start is feasible. 
 

3.11 If Members accept the officer’s recommendation, a new Article 4 Direction will be 
issued, and would take effect prior to the expiry date of the existing one to ensure 
continuity. In spite of the direction having immediate effect consultation will still 
be required and the results of this will be reported to members at the earliest 
opportunity.  

 
Implications 
 

4 Legal Implication(s) 
 

4.1 The Council has a legal duty to seek, through the planning system, to deliver 
sustainable development. Safeguarding the most important employment sites in 
the borough is a means of seeking this. 
 

4.2 Under the provisions of the General Permitted Development Order 2015 (as 
amended) the Council can remove permitted developments rights granted by that 
Order. Where permitted development rights have been removed applicants have 
the right to claim for compensation where a planning application is refused or 
granted subject to conditions. Compensation may also be sought for abortive 

Page 31



- 4 - 

expenditure or other loss or damage which can be directly attributed to the 
extinguishment of permitted development rights. However no compensation is 
payable if the procedures of the Town & Country Planning Act (Compensation) 
Regulations 2013 are adopted; namely that notice of an Article 4 Direction is 
given not less than twelve months before coming into force. Whilst previous 
Article 4 Directions have been deferred for this reason, as this would replace an 
existing Article 4 which would shortly lapse, it is considered that no compensation 
payments would be required and so an immediate start is both possible and 
desirable. This view has been confirmed through external legal advice. 
 

4.3 The making of the order is a legal process which involves the Article 4 Direction 
be officially signed and sealed.  
 

5 Financial Implication(s) 
 

5.1 If an Article 4 Direction is in place, any planning application for development 
which would be Permitted Development does not attract an application fee. It is 
anticipated that there may be a small revenue cost associated with applications 
of this type, but this will be met from core budgets. 
 

5.2 There are theoretical future financial implications associated with restricting 
permitted development rights, positively in the form of protecting business rates 
income and adversely in the form of reducing opportunities for council tax income 
growth and new homes bonus. There would also be incremental service costs 
which would be associated with increases in residential property. The net of this 
position is not possible to quantify as there could be many different influencing 
factors and scenarios, including potential impacts on local employment and 
welfare. The restrictions do not cause a change to the current financial position, 
and as the restrictions protect employment space, the local economy is 
supported, so should be viewed positively in protecting the local economy. 

 
6 Risk Management Implications 

 
6.1 The risks related to this proposal are:  

Financial Risk. It is possible for landowners to claim compensation against a 
planning authority if the value of their asset has been affected by the introduction 
of an Article 4 Direction. Normally, deferring the start of the Article 4 taking effect 
by a year – as has been the case in other instances – would removes this risk as 
it ensures that all landowners have sufficient notice of the Council’s intentions. 
However, as this is a replacement to an existing Article 4, external legal advice 
considers that the risk of compensation is slim so an immediate start is possible. 

 
7 Security and Terrorism Implication(s) 

7.1 There are no known security and terrorism implications in relation to the 
proposals set out in this report. 
 

8 Procurement Implication(s) 

8.1 There are no know procurement implications in relation to the proposals set out 
in this report. 
 

9 Climate Change Implication(s) 
 

Page 32



- 5 - 

9.1 Seeking to safeguard the borough’s most employment sites will help deliver 
sustainable development and provide opportunities for residents to work close to 
home rather than having to travel outside the borough for work. This reduction in 
the need to travel will help reduce carbon emissions. 
 

10 Human Resources Implication(s) 
 

10.1 The Article 4 Direction will result in planning applications which need to be 
determined by development management staff. 
 

11 Health and Wellbeing Implication(s) 
 

11.1 Ensuring a supply of employment close to home can help health and wellbeing 
outcomes by more easily enabling residents to walk or cycle to work, and by 
reducing the negative impact of commuting. 
 

11.2 There is potential for adverse health and wellbeing impacts for future residents 
associated with poorly located residential development remote from services and 
amenities. 
 

12 Communication and Engagement Implication(s) 
 

12.1 A public and business consultation on an Article 4 Direction would be undertaken 
and the results of this reported to members at the earliest opportunity. 
 

13 Link to Corporate Priorities 
 

13.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priority is linked to the 
Council’s Business Plan 2018-2021 and particularly Priority 4 to support sustainable 
economic growth. 
 

14 Equality and Diversity 
 

14.1 An EqIA was not completed because this report does not propose changes to 
existing service-related policies or the development of new service-related 
policies. 

. 
 
Name of author Matt Pyecroft  
Title Senior Projects Officer (Planning) 
Date August 2021  
 
 
Background papers:   
 
Loss of Employment Space in Hertfordshire (Hertfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership 
/ Lambert Smith Hampton) February 2019  
 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix 1 Maps of employment areas covered 
 
 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	7 LOCAL PLAN INSPECTOR'S REPORT
	Item 10 - Appendices A and B Sites found sound2

	8 LAND AT VINEYARDS ROAD ARTICLE 4 DIRECTION
	Item 7 - A4D Public Notice - Vineyards Road

	9 EMPLOYMENT AREAS ARTICLE 4 DIRECTION
	Item 8 - Appendix 1 - Beaconsfield and Great North Road Hatfield
	Item 8 - Appendix 1 - Hatfield Business Park and Bishops Square
	Item 8 - Appendix 1 - Sopers Road Employment Area
	Item 8 - Appendix 1 - Welwyn Garden City Employment Area V2


